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          1  SELECT COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Welcome to this

          3  hearing of the City Council Select Committee on

          4  Waterfronts.

          5                 The premise that underlies this

          6  hearing is simple. We are wasting one of our City's

          7  most precious assets, our waterfront.

          8                 I do not think this premise is

          9  controversial. Mayor Bloomberg said in his State of

         10  the City Address, we must bring new life to the

         11  waterfront, and I think there is general agreement

         12  that reclaiming the waterfront should be among the

         13  City's highest priorities.

         14                 Our waterfront was once the center of

         15  the City's life, New York was the world's busiest

         16  port and much of the City's manufacturing base was

         17  located on the water.

         18                 But over the past few decades, with

         19  shipping having moved elsewhere and manufacturing

         20  disappearing, the waterfront has become peripheral,

         21  a hodge-podge of tow pounds, salt piles and unused

         22  warehouses.

         23                 Initially, the decline of the

         24  waterfront was a problem created by the changing

         25  structure of the City's economy. At some point,
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          2  however, the waterfront became a policy problem, and

          3  if we continue to let the waterfront stagnate, that

          4  will be a very grave failure of policy.

          5                 The City's Land Use policy-makers

          6  have done a great deal of terrific work toward

          7  changing our policies, including the 1999 waterfront

          8  revitalization plan that still awaits approval by

          9  the State; the Waterfront Zoning Rules, Shepparded

         10  in large part by our very own Wilbur Woods, who is

         11  here today; and the various 197-A plans that have

         12  been developed by neighborhood leaders working

         13  together with City Planning.

         14                 Plans for the Hudson River Park and

         15  the Brooklyn Bridge Park are huge steps forward, but

         16  we still lack a comprehensive and specific agenda

         17  for revitalizing the entire waterfront.

         18                 The goal of this hearing is to begin

         19  the process of developing such an agenda. I want to

         20  focus today in particular on the tool that I believe

         21  could be enormously useful, the large number of

         22  City-owned waterfront properties. Many, probably

         23  most, of these properties are being used for

         24  purposes that have nothing whatever to do with the

         25  water. Moving these facilities inland would free up
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          2  valuable land for housing, recreational space and

          3  genuine job creation. And in many cases could spark

          4  redevelopment of whole stretches of the waterfront.

          5                 The first step in accomplishing this

          6  is to compile an inventory showing exactly which

          7  waterfront properties the City owns, what they are

          8  being used for -- and what they are being used for.

          9                 I have introduced Intro. 65, which

         10  directs the City Planning Department to do just

         11  that, and the Department will be testifying today

         12  about this bill.

         13                 The City already publishes annually a

         14  list of City-owned properties. It is impossible,

         15  however, to tell from this list which properties are

         16  located on the waterfront.

         17                 As written, Intro. 65 would simply

         18  require City Planning to cull from this existing

         19  inventory a list of waterfront properties, and to

         20  make sure that the use of each property is

         21  described.

         22                 The existing document often, though

         23  not always, contains a description of the property's

         24  use. When this Committee considers Intro. 65 for a

         25  vote, I intend to offer an amendment that would also

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            6

          1  SELECT COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2  require City Planning to note in the inventory

          3  whether each property's use is one that requires or

          4  benefits from a waterfront location.

          5                 I believe this amendment would make

          6  the inventory even more useful as a planning and

          7  policy-making document, and I would ask the

          8  Department's witness to please address that idea as

          9  well.

         10                 Even once this inventory is compiled,

         11  there will be significant obstacles to optimizing

         12  the use of under-used parcels. The cost of

         13  relocating City facilities and community opposition

         14  to reciting certain facilities, to name two.

         15                 To deal with this first obstacle, I

         16  am also proposing to establish a $100 million

         17  waterfront revitalization fund in the City's capital

         18  budget.

         19                 Because the capital budget is

         20  organized by project, rather than programmatically,

         21  it is too easy to lose sight of policy priorities. I

         22  compiled of the capital budget items related to the

         23  waterfront and was dismayed to discover that the FY

         24  2003 budget proposed by the Mayor in April, cuts

         25  these items by 60 percent. And what's more, the bulk
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          2  of these projects are maintenance or repair of

          3  existing facilities, rather than projects to reclaim

          4  new areas.

          5                 We all recognize the fiscal

          6  constraints we're operating under, but that level of

          7  disinvestment in the waterfront is simply not

          8  consistent with the priorities that I believe we all

          9  share. A dedicated capital budget fund would ensure

         10  that our stated commitments to revitalizing the

         11  waterfront are backed up with real dollars.

         12                 And let me say, $100 million sounds

         13  like, and indeed is, a lot of money. But just to put

         14  it in context, the budget the Council adopted last

         15  year, in June, proposed $1.5 billion in waterfront

         16  projects. $1.5 billion over the year we are

         17  currently in and the next year. In other words, over

         18  Fiscal Year 2002, Fiscal Year 2003 combined, the

         19  budget adopted last June proposed $1.5 billion in

         20  waterfront projects.

         21                 The budget proposed by the Mayor in

         22  April contains $450 million, over a billion dollars

         23  in cuts to waterfront projects. So, in that context

         24  I think a $100 million waterfront revitalization

         25  fund really is the least we can do, if we're serious
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          2  what we say we're serious about, which is waterfront

          3  revitalization.

          4                 Thank you for your participation in

          5  this hearing. We are joined today by Council Member

          6  Michael McMahon, Chairman of the Sanitation

          7  Committee.

          8                 Council Member, do you have an

          9  opening statement, or should we proceed?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I think you

         11  said it all beautifully, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Be that as it

         13  may, we will proceed. And our first witness is

         14  Wilbur Woods.

         15                 We are honored, really, to have you

         16  today, Mr. Woods. As I'm sure many people in the

         17  audience know, Mr. Woods is one of the City's

         18  towering presences in waterfront planning, and it is

         19  indeed a pleasure to have you here today. Thank you

         20  very much for joining us, Mr. Woods.

         21                 And you have a written statement, I

         22  believe?

         23                 MR. WOODS: Yes, I do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, that

         25  written statement, without objection, will be made
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          2  part of the record, so you can feel free to

          3  summarize it.

          4                 MR. WOODS: Thank you very much, Mr.

          5  Chairman, for that gracious introduction. And I am

          6  Wilbur Woods, Director of the Waterfront and Open

          7  Space Division at the Department of City Planning.

          8  I'm joined today by David Karnofsky, who is our

          9  Counsel at Department of City Planning, and Carol

         10  Clark, Special Assistant for Intergovernmental

         11  Affairs.

         12                 I also am pleased to be with Council

         13  Member McMahon today. Glad to see you. I heard you

         14  speak the other day at the conference, I thought

         15  that was a wonderful talk.

         16                 I am pleased to have the opportunity

         17  to talk with you today about Intro. 65, and about

         18  the resources and information available to promote

         19  sound planning for City-owned waterfront property.

         20                 We share your overall goal of using

         21  our vast and varied waterfront, including City-owned

         22  parcels, in the most productive way possible.

         23                 Most of the information described in

         24  Intro. 65 is already published annually in

         25  connection with the City's fair share siting
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          2  process, as you mentioned, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 Each year the Departments of Citywide

          4  Administrative Services and City Planning issue a

          5  "Gazatteer," that is this book, and an "Atlas" of

          6  City-owned property, in the maps that are provided.

          7                 The Gazetteer, derived from DCAS's

          8  Integrated Property Information system, or IPIS,

          9  that database, is organized by community district.

         10  It lists, by block and lot, the address, use, agency

         11  jurisdiction and disposition status of all

         12  City-owned and leased properties.

         13                 While it does not presently code for

         14  waterfront location, the Gazatteer can be

         15  cross-referenced with the Atlas maps which clearly

         16  show waterfront block numbers and the types of uses

         17  located on the city parcels.

         18                 Furthermore, the Economic Development

         19  Corporation recently retained a consultant to

         20  develop a computerized map of approximately 500

         21  waterfront sites managed by EDC/Department of

         22  Business Services. The mapping system will be

         23  plotted by block and lot, and would be based on

         24  ownership, jurisdiction and management information

         25  from IPIS.
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          2                 It will also include a site plan,

          3  photographs, a description of the current use and

          4  type of construction. And wherever possible, the

          5  sites will be superimposed on an aerial photograph.

          6                 It is anticipated that the work will

          7  be completed in approximately six months. In

          8  addition to this data, a number of waterfront

          9  documents are valuable planning tools, as components

         10  of the New York City's comprehensive waterfront

         11  plan, their five borough waterfront plans that

         12  present a detailed examination of the City's entire

         13  shoreline, including existing conditions, planning

         14  issues, and recommendations for achieving the goals

         15  articulated in the waterfront plan.

         16                 Additionally, the five approved 197-a

         17  plans for waterfront communities provided extensive

         18  information and guidance for the use of specific

         19  waterfront "reaches".

         20                 The Departments of City Planning,

         21  Citywide Administrative Services, Business Services

         22  and the Economic Development Corporation would be

         23  pleased to meet with you, and anyone that you

         24  desire, to discuss these existing and anticipated

         25  sources of information and ways that we may be able
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          2  to assist you.

          3                 We are confident that through

          4  discussion we can make any necessary adjustments to

          5  improve the utility of that information for your

          6  purposes.

          7                 For these reasons, we do not think

          8  that there is any need to establish an additional

          9  and largely redundant Charter mandate. And one of

         10  the issues that we need to understand together is

         11  the definition of waterfront property.

         12                 Intro. 65 uses the definition of

         13  waterfront area that is in Section 1210 of the

         14  zoning resolution, and that is the "geographical

         15  area comprising all blocks between the pierhead line

         16  and the line 800 feet from the shore line." That is,

         17  or mean high water.

         18                 That definition is relevant for

         19  waterfront zoning purposes. For example, determining

         20  view corridors for specific sites undergoing

         21  redevelopment, but it would be too inclusive and

         22  cumbersome for this purpose.

         23                 In many locations the boundary would

         24  include not just the waterfront blocks, but upland

         25  blocks outside the area of concern.
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          2                 In sections of waterfront without

          3  bulkheads, on-site or aerial photo surveys would be

          4  needed to identify the shoreline and the 800-foot

          5  boundary.

          6                 A more appropriate approach would be

          7  the use of definition of waterfront blocks, which

          8  would include all blocks seaward of the first upland

          9  mapped and improved street.

         10                 We look forward to further dialogue.

         11  We'd be happy to answer any questions about the

         12  City's waterfront property inventory. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Woods. I thank you for your testimony. And your last

         15  comment about the definition of waterfront, that's

         16  very helpful, and I appreciate your bringing that

         17  kind of comment to the Committee. Obviously the

         18  purpose of a hearing such as this is to get that

         19  kind of feedback, and I appreciate it.

         20                 So, let me ask you this: How many

         21  parcels, waterfront parcels does the City own?

         22                 MR. WOODS: Well, we talked about the

         23  ones that are not in parks that are part of the -- I

         24  think what you're looking for, in terms of an

         25  inventory, and I would say there are roughly a
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          2  thousand.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is that a list

          4  that's found somewhere?

          5                 MR. WOODS: Roughly a thousand. We

          6  could make that list, we can cross reference and

          7  make the list, but that's an estimate. That's a ball

          8  park estimate.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: How much acreage

         10  would you say --

         11                 MR. WOODS: That I don't have at the

         12  moment. It's again something that we can get.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Would you

         14  say, of the roughly thousand parcels, would you say

         15  half of them are used for purposes that are related

         16  to the water or need to be on the water? What

         17  percent would you say are being used for purposes

         18  that benefit from a waterfront location, or for

         19  which a waterfront location is necessary?

         20                 MR. WOODS: Well, I think that there

         21  has got to be some discussion, in terms of what we

         22  mean, what you mean, what perhaps we mean about

         23  useful for waterfront purposes.

         24                 We define specifically in the zoning

         25  resolution those uses that are water dependent.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  SELECT COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2  We've also defined those that are waterfront

          3  enhancing, and there are then uses beyond those two

          4  categories that certainly provide an opportunity for

          5  people to use the waterfront productively.

          6  Commercial facilities, office, retail and housing.

          7                 None of those uses are either water

          8  dependent, or waterfront enhancing in accordance

          9  with the zoning. But you wouldn't want to say they

         10  are not useful.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, no. Maybe I

         12  should step back.

         13                 I mean, it's my premise, it's my

         14  starting assumption that waterfront property is

         15  inherently more valuable than inland property for

         16  just those purposes, certainly for housing, for

         17  recreation, and under some circumstances for

         18  commercial or business uses, absolutely. That's the

         19  reason that I think it's worthwhile for the City to

         20  look at its inventory of City-owned parcels and

         21  figure out which of them could be moved to free up

         22  the land for just those uses.

         23                 Of the City-owned parcels, though, we

         24  are looking at categories one and two of the

         25  categories you just delineated, water dependent and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  SELECT COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2  beneficial I think was the word, beneficial was the

          3  key word in the second category.

          4                 Do we have a sense of how much, what

          5  percent of City-owned properties fall into those

          6  categories?

          7                 MR. WOODS: No. We haven't broken it

          8  down at this point, and I would just say that, you

          9  know, we're not looking to use the waterfront

         10  indiscriminately for those uses that I think that

         11  you're probably referring to that are not

         12  particularly helpful to be on the waterfront. Let's

         13  take something like a tow pound. That seems to be

         14  the classic dilemma, how do we -- how can we

         15  possibly turn waterfront property, valuable

         16  waterfront property over to a two pound, and we

         17  didn't start out to do that.

         18                 But the use of that property does, in

         19  fact, come out of a whole process about an upland

         20  site that had to be used for a very important

         21  economic development project, and then the only

         22  site, because we're looking at sites that probably

         23  are ten to 15 acres in size, in order to serve some

         24  of these uses, and we happen to find a site, this is

         25  several years ago in the Brooklyn waterfront that
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          2  was big enough, and obviously it was controversial.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right. There's no

          4  question. I mean, I assume that we absolutely share

          5  the goal of maximizing the use of the waterfront,

          6  and there's no question but that the less than

          7  optimal uses that we find all along the waterfront

          8  are no one's fault. I mean that's the result of a

          9  very specific historical pattern that we can

         10  identify. The waterfront was used for one purpose,

         11  those purposes disappeared.

         12                 MR. WOODS: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And we were left

         14  with, you know, we were left with then a problem to

         15  solve.

         16                 I don't think -- it's plainly

         17  nobody's fault, and I don't think the Administration

         18  or the City government can set out to waste the

         19  waterfront.

         20                 MR. WOODS: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: If we fail,

         22  though, to tackle the problem, then it will be our

         23  fault, I think, as City officials, and, so, that's

         24  really the goal.

         25                 And I guess I'd have two points to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            18

          1  SELECT COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2  make: One is, for any specific site there's a whole

          3  history and a reason as to why it's there. That's

          4  why I'm saying a comprehensive inventory helps us

          5  keep the overall policy priority of waterfront

          6  revitalization in prospective. You need something to

          7  counter the imperatives of each individual site, and

          8  that's something I think would be -- if there was a

          9  document out there that said, that told the public

         10  the City owns 1,500 parcels, waterfront parcels, I

         11  don't know, maybe it's 1,000, maybe it's 1,500, the

         12  City owns let's say it's a thousand, waterfront

         13  parcels, and of those 78 are for water dependent or

         14  water beneficial purposes, I think that would help

         15  the public understand the priority, and help us as

         16  policy-makers understand the priority that must be

         17  on the other side of each individual site.

         18                 So, I guess that's my one point.

         19                 MR. WOODS: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And what I would

         21  add to that is to say, of course, changing this is

         22  not easy. If it was easy, it would have been done.

         23                 MR. WOODS: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And there will be

         25  obstacles. I talked about cost, I talked about
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          2  siting issues, and then there's of course

          3  institutional inertia, for any of these sites that

          4  are serving various City departments, whether it's a

          5  tow pound or a salt pile, the easiest thing for the

          6  Department will be to keep it where it is, for

          7  whatever Department that is. And that makes perfect

          8  sense. If I was running the Sanitation Department,

          9  you know, I got other problems than moving my salt

         10  pile, I understand that. That's why we need a kind

         11  of counter weight.

         12                 So, those are the two observations I

         13  would make.

         14                 My last question is, you referred to

         15  the inventory is redundant, but if I understand you,

         16  we do not currently have a list or even an exact

         17  figure, real figure, for the number of parcels, the

         18  acreage, the uses to which they're being put. So, it

         19  seems to me that would be a helpful policy planning

         20  tool, and if I understand you, the EDC has set out

         21  to compile such a list simply of the properties it

         22  manages. That, of course, is incomplete, but that's

         23  at least a good start.

         24                 MR. WOODS: Right, and will be

         25  complete within six months.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right. But I

          3  mean, even when it's complete, for EDC that will

          4  only be a subset of parcels owned by the City.

          5                 MR. WOODS: It seems to me that the

          6  basis for what we're talking about is what we

          7  already do, the Gazatteer, which is done on an

          8  annual basis. And then sitting down with you, trying

          9  to really come up with a better format that would

         10  identify these waterfront properties that are not,

         11  as you say, perhaps not as clearly identified as

         12  they could be, and the same thing could be true on

         13  the Atlas.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Would that be

         15  easy to do?

         16                 MR. WOODS: It's a cross referencing

         17  that should -- I mean, I'm not the computer expert

         18  here, but my understanding is that within the

         19  parameters of what I think you're talking about,

         20  this should be a straightforward step, not something

         21  that we need a Charter mandate to do. But I think

         22  that it does take sitting down with the right

         23  people, understanding what the tools are that we

         24  have, and how to adjust those tools.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Council Member McMahon, do you have

          4  any follow-up questions?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I do,

          6  Chairman Yassky. Thank you. And thank you for your

          7  staff putting together this wonderful hearing and

          8  this wonderful proposal.

          9                 Director Woods, in your opinion,

         10  would it be beneficial to have in one location an

         11  easily accessible inventory of all the City-owned

         12  waterfront property?

         13                 MR. WOODS: Well, as I said, I think

         14  that we have that. It's a question of identifying it

         15  and how to make it clearer.

         16                 We have already in the Gazetteer an

         17  identification of the City-owned property and in the

         18  Atlas. So, yes, making it more useful, making it

         19  more clear which of the waterfront properties would

         20  be certainly helpful.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Right.

         22  Because as I understand it, the Chairman wants to

         23  have the information in one place of all the

         24  City-owned waterfront property, how ever waterfront

         25  is described, and what you're saying is that the
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          2  information is actually in a few places, one just

          3  has to cross reference it. How do we get it to the

          4  next step, in your opinion? What's the best way to

          5  do it, so that we have it all easily accessible in

          6  one place? Is that something that the Department is

          7  willing to undertake?

          8                 MR. WOODS: That's exactly what we

          9  wanted to get together and discuss, is, in fact,

         10  what the format is.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay. And in

         12  your opinion, is that a good place to go to? I mean,

         13  would that be a useful tool for City Planning, for

         14  the City Council, for those who are interested in

         15  the future of the waterfront?

         16                 MR. WOODS: Yes. Yes.

         17                 And to the extent that we can

         18  identify the characteristics that were called for,

         19  there is perhaps a gap which is much more difficult

         20  to measure, and that is the utility, or whether

         21  something is a useful use. I think the terms that

         22  we've been talking about here are not defined either

         23  in terms of the Gazetteer, or the zoning, or other

         24  things. That's part of the dialogue that's got to go

         25  up.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: No, I

          3  understand that. I mean, every parcel of land is

          4  different. That's why we all had to struggle with

          5  the real property law, if I remember. Is that why

          6  professors made us do that?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Please do not

          8  bring back those memories.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I'd like to,

         10  if I could for a second, ask you about something

         11  related but in some ways different. I mean, we

         12  talked about the tow yards and the condition of the

         13  waterfront property, and a lot of that exists

         14  because a lot of the waterfront property, as I

         15  understand it, is zoned for manufacturing use. And

         16  that put us in a position now where what

         17  manufacturing use allows the economic forces dictate

         18  what we have on the waterfront, and as you know, I'm

         19  from Staten Island, and our waterfront is largely

         20  autobody yards and construction yards and things

         21  like that that could really be anywhere and they are

         22  there for the zoning rules.

         23                 I now have in Staten Island some

         24  pressure, or some applications from individuals,

         25  from investors, who want to change the zoning from
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          2  manufacturing, and then whether it be commercial or

          3  to residential. And my concern is that we're sort of

          4  dealing with a big problem on individual locations

          5  without any type of broad plan.

          6                 Do you have any opinion on that?

          7                 MR. WOODS: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And how would

          9  you advise me, without asking any specific

         10  application, as someone who knows waterfront

         11  development and is very familiar with it, how do

         12  you, and how does the Department, look at these

         13  types of pressures?

         14                 MR. WOODS: That's a very good

         15  question. And the pressures that you feel are

         16  actually consistent in other parts of the City's

         17  waterfront as well. And in the Department of City

         18  Planning's strategic plan, we have identified areas

         19  in the City where we're looking at that issue, and,

         20  in fact, in certain locations, for example,

         21  Greenpoint, Williamsburg in Brooklyn, actually

         22  looking to develop the step-by-step process of

         23  changing some of the waterfront from manufacturing

         24  to residential.

         25                 I'm not clear of which of the areas
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          2  of Staten Island that you're talking about.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I mean, one

          4  that's coming down the road, if it's okay, I can

          5  talk about it specifically, it hasn't actually -- I

          6  think it's in the initial stages, but right in the

          7  area of the Bayonne Bridge, a ten-acre parcel of

          8  land that's zoned manufacturing and the private

          9  developer is pushing to change the zoning to

         10  residential.

         11                 MR. WOODS: Well, in the City's

         12  waterfront revitalization program that the Chairman

         13  referred to earlier, that it's still at the

         14  Department of State and hopefully will be approved

         15  soon, that new waterfront revitalization program

         16  lays out a context for the North Shore of Staten

         17  Island that is essentially a working waterfront.

         18  Everything from the Halan Hook over to almost the

         19  Sailor Snug Harbor, that that working waterfront,

         20  the north shore, with possible exception of

         21  something like Arlington Marsh, that's a wetland

         22  area. So, it would be presumed inconsistent at this

         23  point to talk in terms of a ten-acre residential

         24  development in that area. There are other areas in

         25  Staten Island on the waterfront that we would treat
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          2  in a different fashion.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And that

          4  particular study, is a study of the right term?

          5                 MR. WOODS: Yes. It's a program that

          6  we went through City Council. It was approved in

          7  1999, and it's been waiting at the state for two

          8  years. We already use it in the City for City

          9  actions, but we hope that the state will approve it

         10  quite soon, and we understand that they will, and

         11  then we can use it for state and federal actions as

         12  well.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Just one last

         14  question on that, and thank you for your patience,

         15  Mr. Chairman.

         16                 So, in terms of planning, it would

         17  certainly be wise to wait until that is all approved

         18  an in place before we make any individual lot

         19  changes?

         20                 MR. WOODS: Yes. It is in place now

         21  for City actions, and I'd be glad to explain that

         22  and give you a copy and brief your staff on it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay, I'll

         24  follow up on that. Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: We've been joined
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          2  by Council Member Rodriguez, and Council Member

          3  Addabbo.

          4                 Council Member Addabbo, do you have

          5  any follow-up questions?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Council Member

          8  Rodriguez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I just have one

         11  follow-up question.

         12                 You talked in your testimony, I'm

         13  just looking for the part of it here, about the EDC

         14  consultant that was hired.

         15                 MR. WOODS: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And that's I

         17  think a terrific development. I'm very pleased to

         18  learn about that. I mean, that's really exactly I

         19  think what we're talking about here, and what I'd

         20  like to see the entire City do, for all properties

         21  under the City's control.

         22                 You say it will include a site plan,

         23  photographs, description of current use and type of

         24  construction; will that also include plans for

         25  relocating City property, or for uses that are not
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          2  --

          3                 MR. WOODS: Not to my knowledge, no.

          4  This is pretty much the description that we have.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          6                 Is any other City agency undertaking

          7  a project like EDC is here?

          8                 MR. WOODS: Not to this extent.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         10                 So, then it would be helpful, it

         11  seems to me, to have this done for all City

         12  agencies.

         13                 Well, thank you very much, Mr. Woods.

         14                 Oh, and I'm sorry, Council Member

         15  Golden. We've been joined by Council Member Golden.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I'm running

         17  back and forth between rooms.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I know. We have a

         19  lot of hearings going on today.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Is it

         21  necessary that this be legislated? Is there within

         22  the realm of the Department a possibility that we

         23  can do this without legislating another law that's

         24  going to cost us more money, especially in these

         25  times? Is there a way that within your agency that
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          2  this can be done?

          3                 MR. WOODS: This is Counsel, David

          4  Karnofsky.

          5                 MR. KARNOFSKY: What Bill Woods has

          6  said is that much of the information is here, it's a

          7  question of organizing and cross-referencing it and

          8  making it more useful to meet your needs and the

          9  needs of those who are interested in waterfront

         10  property, and we can do that. It does not require

         11  legislation.

         12                 And part of our concern about

         13  legislation is that when you fix in the Charter the

         14  form of report is you use particular definitions,

         15  that's fixed for all time or until an amendment, and

         16  what we've discovered is that when that's been done

         17  in the past, the reports lose their utility and you

         18  find that you're stuck doing things that don't make

         19  sense after awhile.

         20                 What we think works is to sit down,

         21  discuss, come up with a form of report that works,

         22  and to adjust over time, using those databases.

         23                 So, legislation as the effect, and

         24  you can look through the Charter and see all kinds

         25  of reports that everybody thought at the time were
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          2  enormously useful turned out not to be because they

          3  were so proscriptive and the Charter laid out in

          4  detail what had to be there. We think there's a

          5  better way to do that through discussing and through

          6  producing the useful report now. COUNCIL MEMBER

          7  GOLDEN: I understand the importance of this meeting,

          8  I understand my Chairman's wishes to have this

          9  categorized and to know what type of properties we

         10  have out there, and I listened to Council Member

         11  McMahon, something I've been after for years and

         12  years and years is to come up with a plan that we

         13  have for the waterfront that's a universal plan that

         14  everybody can look at, instead of throwing mud at

         15  the wall and whatever sticks is what we go with, and

         16  whatever falls off we don't go with.

         17                 So, I understand the reasoning behind

         18  trying to get this mandate completed. But I also

         19  understand that being a City Councilman here for

         20  some time, and looking at the different reports that

         21  we require, it generates an awful lot of manpower, a

         22  lot of man hours that are used, that I haven't read

         23  some of the reports that we've asked for, and I

         24  couldn't because they're about this thick, and we

         25  get them quarterly from NYPD, and it's just
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          2  redundancy and it doesn't achieve the goal that we

          3  want to achieve.

          4                 We feel it achieves it, because we

          5  feel that by you having to do it, that somebody is

          6  looking at it and somebody is doing it. That doesn't

          7  achieve the goal, though.

          8                 The goal that we want to achieve is

          9  to categorize the properties, understand the

         10  properties along the waterfront, I believe. And if

         11  I'm incorrect, please let me know, Mr. Chairman. And

         12  to be able to have a regular map, a regular study, a

         13  regular plan, that we know where the properties are,

         14  what the properties are, what their depth, what

         15  their sizes, what they can do, what they're zoned

         16  for, how we can change zoning to have a master plan

         17  for the waterfront. I think that's important.

         18                 But how long would this take to be

         19  able to, and how much manpower would be required of

         20  your agency to go between and be different documents

         21  and to categorize -- I can't say that word this

         22  morning -- the properties along the waterfront?

         23                 MR. WOODS: We don't know exactly what

         24  manpower it would take. It certainly would divert

         25  people from other tasks and in an agency that has
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          2  been shrinking rather dramatically in staff over the

          3  last ten years. So, it would be a problem.

          4                 However, as I said before, we have

          5  the information. We've got the data, what can be

          6  done I feel appropriately is to reformat that, make

          7  it available in a more useful fashion. I don't think

          8  that is going to take a tremendous amount of

          9  diversion of resources or effort and could be done

         10  in a reasonably short time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Short of

         12  legislation, and it's only a suggestion, Mr.

         13  Chairman, that we have the legal team here, and the

         14  Chairman, the City Council office, and the Mayor's

         15  office sit down with your office and see if we can

         16  come up with some type of agreement, versus

         17  legislation.

         18                 I think legislation is great when

         19  it's needed, and I think it makes us look foolish

         20  when it's not, and if it puts a burden on the

         21  additional cost to the City of New York in this

         22  time, I think is something we should really look at.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

         25  much. I think that's a terrific suggestion. We have
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          2  been engaging in some discussions and negotiations

          3  about having just such a meeting, and my strong

          4  guess is that we will succeed in having such a

          5  meeting; am I right?

          6                 MR. WOODS: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And I agree with

          8  you. Why don't we just engage where we can maybe

          9  save some of the debate about the issues that you've

         10  raised til our next meeting when I expect to vote on

         11  this, but why don't we engage the witnesses on this

         12  question.

         13                 I think what I heard you saying

         14  before was a report, an inventory like this would be

         15  a useful document, it is something you agree needs

         16  to be done, and indeed I thought I heard you say you

         17  intend to do it, but you don't want to be required

         18  to do it; is that a fair statement? Is that a fair

         19  restatement of what you said?

         20                 MR. KARNOFSKY: I think what we're

         21  saying is that fixing a report requirement in the

         22  contents of the report in legislation is, in our

         23  view, ultimately counterproductive. That we have

         24  information, we can make it more useful, we would

         25  continue to do so, but when you put it into
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          2  legislative form, it inevitably kind of ossifies and

          3  becomes less useful.

          4                 And we have numerous reporting

          5  requirements that, frankly, in our judgment, are not

          6  useful anymore because the original intention

          7  doesn't seem to be fulfilled any longer. We don't

          8  want to be in that position, and we think this can

          9  be done without legislation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I'm just

         11  one out of 51, but I would certainly welcome any

         12  recommendations from the Department as to what

         13  reporting requirements you'd like to see eliminated.

         14  I don't think I'm going out on a limb to say that I

         15  think my colleagues would be very receptive to

         16  suggestions like that.

         17                 Has a report, such as the one

         18  required here, been produced in the past at any

         19  time?

         20                 MR. WOODS: No. As you mentioned

         21  earlier --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. I mean, I

         23  don't mean to cut you off, but I do want to get to

         24  other witnesses. I guess my only point would be

         25  there is intention, of course, between ossification
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          2  and setting in concrete some detail, that's on the

          3  one side. On the other side is the fact that without

          4  this requirement, a report like this has never been

          5  produced. There is not, to my knowledge, and tell me

          6  if I'm wrong, a policy planning process underway

          7  that seeks to identify City-owned facilities that

          8  are on the water that should be relocated and that

          9  will be relocated, and it seems to me that what you

         10  have on the other side is the fact that, without

         11  such a requirement, that report and that planning

         12  process may not be undertaken.

         13                 MR. WOODS: We actually would look

         14  forward to working with you on that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Terrific.

         16                 All right, thank you very much. And I

         17  very much appreciate your presence and participation

         18  here.

         19                 We have this room for another 35

         20  minutes, so what I will propose is that the

         21  remaining witnesses come up as a group, and we take

         22  testimony and then we can ask questions of the group

         23  as a whole.

         24                 And those witnesses are: Carter

         25  Craft, representing the Metropolitan Waterfront
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          2  Alliance; Mark Caserta, of the Waterfront Park

          3  Coalition; Joseph Hartigan of the Rockaway Action

          4  Committee; Adam Brown of the Working Waterfront

          5  Association; Michael K. Davis, representing Floating

          6  the Apple; Paula Luria Caplan, representing Bronx

          7  Borough President Adolpho Carrion; and Jennifer

          8  Hoppa, representing Manhattan Borough President C.

          9  Virginia Fields.

         10                 I think that's seven. Is it possible

         11  to do seven?

         12                 Thank you very much. This is a

         13  terrific panel of people who have devoted

         14  considerable amounts of time, energy and expertise

         15  to addressing the questions that this Committee is

         16  very much interested in Flushing out. I very much

         17  appreciate, am grateful for your presence here.

         18                 I want to particularly mention, I

         19  know Mt. Caserta is going to introduce this

         20  document, the New York Waterfront Blueprint, and we

         21  talked earlier today about a $100 million waterfront

         22  revitalization fund, and when you see the extent of

         23  the work that needs to be done, I think that number

         24  seems all the smaller by comparison.

         25                 MR. CASERTA: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: But thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 Well, why don't we go from side to

          5  side. Mr. Craft, why don't you begin.

          6                 And let me say, does everyone have

          7  written statements here? If you do, then those will

          8  be made a part of the record, without objection, so

          9  please feel free to --

         10                 MR. CRAFT: Abbreviate.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: -- Give us the

         12  high parts.

         13                 MR. CRAFT: Good morning. My name is

         14  Carter Craft. In short, the Metropolitan Waterfront

         15  Alliance supports Intro. 65. Everybody we've talked

         16  with supports the goals of Intro. 65. I think there

         17  is a little disagreement on what's the best way to

         18  achieve these goals.

         19                 Why to support Intro. 65? Well, maybe

         20  Wil Rogers said it best: "Waterfront land, it's the

         21  only thing they're not making more of" and that's

         22  the reality.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Did Wil Rogers

         24  say that?

         25                 MR. CRAFT: Or he might have said
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          2  that. I may have read that he may have said it,

          3  actually.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You made that up.

          5                 MR. CRAFT: The fact is that our

          6  waterfront has been disappearing for 30 years and

          7  nobody's noticed. Since the most recent calculations

          8  were done in the 1970s, we gone by the rule that we

          9  have 578 miles of waterfront, a GIS, Geographic

         10  Information System analysis, what we've just done is

         11  found that we really only have 532.

         12                 Also, over the last 30 years, the

         13  administration and management of the waterfront has

         14  become increasingly fragmented, and it really hasn't

         15  served the waterfront well.

         16                 Now, Parks, DCAS, EDC, MTA, DEP,

         17  NYPD, FDNY, DBS, BOE, DOT, DHS, DOS, and HPD, at the

         18  very least 13 different City agencies occupy or

         19  administer waterfront property. Forty-six miles of

         20  waterfront land disappeared in the last 30 years,

         21  and not one of these 13 agencies notices? That's a

         22  problem.

         23                 Maybe nobody has noticed that the

         24  incredible shrinking waterfront exists because

         25  there's so much of it that we can't publicly access.
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          2  Too frequently, as has been pointed out in previous

          3  hearings, there's too much that we can't access at

          4  all. It ignores the fact that it's waterfront.

          5                 We're not insisting that

          6  non-water-dependent facilities be relocated. Too

          7  many neighborhoods are too burdened already, and

          8  displacing these facilities to already burdened

          9  communities, as would happen, doesn't serve anybody

         10  well.

         11                 What we do believe, though, is that

         12  much of the time the facilities, the fences, the

         13  infrastructure around the facilities, could be

         14  adjusted to accommodate access. We have testimony

         15  from a kiacker who doesn't ask for a park, he just

         16  asks for three feet between the fence and the water.

         17                 Ultimately we're not asking that a

         18  new agency be created, we do think sometimes that's

         19  what it might take.

         20                 We're not asking that some in-stick

         21  report be created that none of us ever look at. But

         22  the reality is, if DCAS and City Planning are

         23  already tracking these parcels, let's add up the

         24  columns. I mean, to not do so would be like

         25  collecting taxes and never doing a budget.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  SELECT COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2                 If you don't start to measure it, you

          3  can't manage it. So, let's measure it and manage it

          4  better than we are today. Thanks.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. That

          6  was well done testimony. Thank you very much for it.

          7                 Please proceed.

          8                 MS. HOPPA: Good morning, Chairman

          9  Yassky, members of the Committee, my name is

         10  Jennifer Hoppa. I just want to paraphrase some of

         11  the comments of the Manhattan Borough President C.

         12  Virginia Fields.

         13                 First, she just wants to convey her

         14  appreciation to you for convening this hearing.

         15  Obviously there's a lot of outstanding needs for our

         16  waterfront. And she commends the Committee for

         17  presenting this piece of legislation to start the

         18  dialogue. And she's hope it's the first in a series

         19  of measures to help us revitalize our waterfront and

         20  help us reconnect our waterways.

         21                 Again, we support the goals of Intro.

         22  65. We think the City's waterfront properties, the

         23  City services on the waterfront properties need to

         24  be clearly identified.

         25                 Once they're clearly identified, the
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          2  extent of their contribution to the quality of life

          3  in the City can be assessed, and their possible

          4  redevelopment for recreation, open space, housing

          5  and transportation needs evaluated.

          6                 In addition, we believe the inventory

          7  can equip the administration and City agencies with

          8  information needed to address funding from proved

          9  waterfront infrastructure and maintenance and can

         10  foster and prove interagency coordination.

         11                 Although much progress has been made

         12  in bringing in new life for our waterfronts, much

         13  work remains outstanding as is really well

         14  highlighted in the Waterfront Parks Coalition's

         15  Waterfront Blueprint. And one of the tasks the

         16  Borough President expects to tackle is identifying

         17  possible relocation sites for City services.

         18                 She's forging a waterfront

         19  reclamation task force, has invited members of the

         20  Manhattan Delegation, Council Member Gerson being

         21  one of them, and chairs of the Manhattan community

         22  boards to identify possible alternative sites, and

         23  establish consensus on those to open up the

         24  waterfront for possible redevelopment.

         25                 Just some sites that we wanted to
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          2  highlight are piers 35 and 36 in Community Board 3,

          3  where this densely populated lower east side

          4  community has been waiting for affordable recreation

          5  in exchange for having a DOS refueling and garage

          6  facility.

          7                 And in community boards 2 and 4,

          8  approximately 14 acres of waterfront parkland is

          9  pending redevelopment once City services are

         10  relocated. And among them, I guess the tow pound was

         11  already mentioned, and sanitation facilities at Pier

         12  97 and the Gansevoort Peninsula. These are areas

         13  that are shortchanged in terms of waterfront access

         14  and parkland. But despite the fact that there's

         15  state legislation requiring their relocation, there

         16  doesn't seem to be a concerted effort on the part of

         17  the Administration or the City Services to get off

         18  in compliance with that act.

         19                 Well, I just want to say that the

         20  Borough President commends you for opening up this

         21  discussion for calling attention to the fact that

         22  there needs to be more accountability, and better

         23  interagency coordination, and she looks forward to

         24  working with you on helping reclaim our waterfronts.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 We'll hear testimony from everybody

          4  and then have questions at the end.

          5                 Mr. Davis.

          6                 MR. DAVIS: Mr. Chairman, members,

          7  Mike Davis from Floating the Apple.  This is, while

          8  I'll make it short, it's just to remind us where

          9  we're dealing with City-owned properties on the

         10  waterfront, that the waterfront is primarily access

         11  to waterways, and that's not just to look at, it's

         12  to get onto, and those are public waterways. And we

         13  lost this in the 1930s, '40s, '50s, and by the

         14  1990s, early 1990s, the whole concept of using the

         15  waterways, the public use of the waterways was lost,

         16  and was largely lost. You could go to community

         17  board meetings and just couldn't get across the

         18  idea. As one last night, I won't mention the

         19  community board, but the idea still is hard taken.

         20                 I think there's a model. I'd just

         21  like to present a model which I think is a good one

         22  that we can follow, or certainly consider, and it's

         23  Boston's 1930's community boating, which was started

         24  by kids, youth center, all inclusive, volunteer run

         25  boats and equipment accumulatively owned, and
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          2  basically independent of government, except for the

          3  consent to use waterfront largely for small

          4  facilities for keeping boats. So, I just pass, I

          5  just hope when we are talking about access to water

          6  funds that we'll be thinking in terms of access onto

          7  waterways.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. That's

         10  an excellent example of a water-dependent use that

         11  perhaps should be preferred over

         12  non-water-dependent.

         13                 MR. DAVIS: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Mr. Caserta.

         15                 MR. CASERTA: You know, I just want to

         16  begin, actually, by thanking Council Member Yassky

         17  for this hearing. The Waterfront Park Coalition,

         18  besides being a coalition of groups that you see

         19  surrounding me, is also a program of the New York

         20  League of Conservation Voters. We had made this an

         21  issue during our mayoral campaign, and it's terrific

         22  to see this being heard before the City Council now.

         23                 A couple of the points. Obviously we

         24  agree this is a good first step. The Waterfront

         25  Blueprint that you have in front of you is a result
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          2  of the work of the groups that you see up here, and

          3  more, 40 groups all together. There are 100, almost

          4  100 sites in the book. About $2 billion to complete

          5  what we see as the revitalization of the waterfront

          6  from the book. So, that certainly establishes the

          7  need not only for, you know, funds on an annual

          8  basis, but to identify the sites under City-owned

          9  and non-water-dependent and move them off of the

         10  waterfront and put properties that are more useful

         11  to the communities.

         12                 The other -- let me just add onto the

         13  planning. The Coalition is very supportive of Intro.

         14  65. We do believe that there needs to be more

         15  extensive planning. In fact, we would like the City

         16  to do its own waterfront blueprints, the waterfront

         17  revitalization plan of 1999 kind of establishes

         18  areas in the City in the kind of uses that should be

         19  there.

         20                 But it would be useful to figure out

         21  what proposals are out there for every area of the

         22  waterfront, and get a gauge on what's possible and

         23  how much it costs and how long, you know, it will

         24  take us to do it, instead of, as Councilman Golden

         25  said, throwing mud against the wall and seeing what
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          2  sticks.

          3                 So, we're certainly supportive of

          4  expanding beyond Intro. 65 in the future.

          5                 I understand the Department of City

          6  Planning's testimony. My own feeling on it as of

          7  right now, I would certainly love to hear how the

          8  talks go, but my feeling is that if it's put into

          9  law, it's more likely to continue to happen year

         10  after year, to be adjusted from time to time. It's

         11  more likely that there will be a budget allocation

         12  to get it done. If it's done by agreement in the

         13  coming years, when the budget is more difficult, it

         14  may be more difficult to get the report out. It may

         15  be cut.

         16                 Second, I'm going to reiterate

         17  something that Jennifer Hoppa said. I, you know,

         18  very much support the efforts of the Manhattan

         19  Borough President. I think, you know, identifying

         20  the waterfront sites is only half the battle.

         21  Figuring out where these properties go afterwards is

         22  the more difficult problem, and I think that what

         23  the Manhattan Borough President is trying to do in

         24  working with community boards and elected officials

         25  to find alternative sites is the right model and
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          2  could be duplicated in the other boroughs.

          3                 So, I want to thank you. I hope that

          4  the Blueprint is a guide to let you know what could

          5  be done in waterfronts, and, you know, I'll take any

          6  questions after this is done.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Mr. Brown.

         10                 MR. BROWN: Good morning. I want to

         11  thank you for having me speak. My name is Adam

         12  Brown, I'm President of the Working Waterfront

         13  Association Maritime and Environmental Advocates.

         14                 I would like to thank Councilman

         15  Yassky and the Committee for showing strong

         16  leadership in introducing and then holding the

         17  hearing on Intro. 65, which Working Waterfront feels

         18  is a good first step.

         19                 We do, however, feel that it could go

         20  further. And one of the things that we think first

         21  should be done, there should be three steps which

         22  should be taken or included in this. The first one

         23  is to include a complete inventory of

         24  privately-owned properties on the waterfront as

         25  well. Too often there are many privately-owned
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          2  properties on waterfronts that are no longer used

          3  for water-dependent uses, water-related uses. Too

          4  often these property owners bought the property for

          5  storage warehouse facilities, and they've turned

          6  their backs on the waterfront.

          7                 The waterfront edge has deteriorated

          8  as a result, they're not using it for

          9  water-dependent uses, and what's happened is, these

         10  neglected waterfront structures, besides falling

         11  into disrepair, are becoming a safety hazard, and

         12  are a source of illegally contaminated discharge

         13  into the waterways. When you have bulkheads fail by

         14  contaminated sites, that falls into the waterway and

         15  now you've got this contaminated material.

         16                 But furthermore, and more

         17  importantly, these fallow properties are no longer

         18  available for water-dependent or water-related uses

         19  for the public, and that's something that should be

         20  considered.

         21                 Second, I think that you should

         22  consider developing and adopting a definitive and

         23  easy to understand hierarchal rating system of

         24  highest and best uses for the waterfront, based on

         25  existing state and federal coastal zone management
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          2  policies and public trust doctrine principles, this

          3  rating system which would be clear and concise would

          4  then be used to objectively compare individual

          5  properties and groups of properties along stretches

          6  of waterfront for consistency with the above

          7  policies and principles.

          8                 Then third, knowing where these

          9  properties are located is only half the battle.

         10  Besides being moved to an alternative location, we

         11  should also consider some sort of an easement

         12  requirement so that if you do keep the property in

         13  the private hands, you still have a mechanism for

         14  the public to access the edge of the water. And this

         15  could work well for the private property owner, as

         16  well as for the public and the City, the private

         17  property owners often no longer have the funds to

         18  upkeep the water's edge, and by creating some sort

         19  of perhaps lease-back arrangement with the City, it

         20  would provide the space for the public to be able to

         21  use to create esplanades along the waterfront

         22  connecting communities that have been separated.

         23                 The Gowanus Canal is an excellent

         24  example of that and I would urge the Council to look

         25  closely at the successes and the challenges that are
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          2  currently going on to revitalize the canal as a

          3  potential model for creative sharing and adapter for

          4  uses of spaces.

          5                 I mean, in the Canal itself, which is

          6  a one-mile stretch, mile and a half stretch, there's

          7  over 80 discrete properties, and it's sort of a

          8  microcosm for study for the Council perhaps to look

          9  at how they could look at the remaining miles of the

         10  City's waterfront.

         11                 Also, I'd just like to close and say

         12  that there are many studies currently existing,

         13  there's a lot of work that's already been done,

         14  besides City Planning's, there is the Comprehensive

         15  Port Improvement Plan, has identified over 70

         16  studies for the waterfront. There's many private

         17  studies, engineering firms have considerable

         18  information available, and I think that the Council

         19  should consider looking at putting together a true

         20  comprehensive inventory, which would utilize all of

         21  these resources, rather than recreating them.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Brown.

         25                 Mr. Hartigan.
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          2                 MR. HARTIGAN: My name is Joe

          3  Hartigan, I'm from the Rockaway Action Committee in

          4  Rockaway, Queens. I'm a proponent of ferry service

          5  and access to the beach. Rockaway, where I live, is

          6  in the second safest police precinct in New York

          7  City, and we have vacant oceanfront property.

          8  Nowhere else in the world is this done.

          9                 I would like to read you this

         10  paragraph.

         11                 According to the Clean Beach Council,

         12  America's top tourist destinations, beaches,

         13  contribute over $640 billion to the Nation's

         14  economy. Each year approximately 180 million

         15  Americans spend $75 billion on visits to the beach.

         16  And the City owns 11 miles of oceanfront, and in the

         17  middle of the summer, it's vacant.

         18                 The next thing that Rockaway has is a

         19  9,000 car parking lot next to the water, with ferry

         20  service, you have access to Manhattan, and you're

         21  talking about having waterfront development all

         22  along the west side of Queens and Brooklyn. Where

         23  are these people going to park when they want to

         24  visit these sites? If you connect the Orchard Beach

         25  parking lot, and you connect Reese Park parking lot,
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          2  to Manhattan, to these sites, you'll reduce the car

          3  traffic.

          4                 The next thing is, there's $100

          5  million earmarked for ferry service. I realize this

          6  is waterfront. Ferry service and waterfront are

          7  intertwined.

          8                 Also, light freight to Kennedy

          9  Airport, that could be the subsidy, part of the

         10  subsidy for the ferry service. It's worth $15

         11  million a month. Right now, if you were to look at

         12  the ferry operation now, basically the Port

         13  Authority has created a white man's boat from New

         14  Jersey.

         15                 That's it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Ms. Caplan.

         19                 MS. CAPLAN: Good morning, Chairman

         20  Yassky and members of the Committee. My name is

         21  Paula Caplan, and I'm representing Bronx Borough

         22  President Adolfo Carrion.

         23                 I have highlighted waterfront

         24  development as a priority of my administration. City

         25  government is a key force in waterfront development
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          2  through its regulatory authority and its land

          3  ownership. We must provide opportunities for public

          4  access to the waterfront wherever practical. This

          5  can range from a waterfront esplanade to finger

          6  piers in industrial districts where workers on break

          7  can enjoy the open air.

          8                 Residents of every waterfront

          9  community, rich or poor, should enjoy the shoreline.

         10  I envisioned increased ferry service for both

         11  passengers and freight to remove polluting vehicles

         12  from our streets.

         13                 My office is promoting the

         14  development of freight ferry service with

         15  alternative fuels for deliveries from the airports

         16  to the Hunts Point market. Barge service from Port

         17  Newark to Hunts Point is another possibility.

         18                 The proposed Charter amendment,

         19  Intro. 65, would provide a valuable resource for

         20  planners and developers, provided it is accompanied

         21  by the requisite staffing budget.

         22                 In the Bronx, City-owned waterfront

         23  sites available for development, include:

         24                 - The presently defunct Marine

         25  Transfer Station, whose location is ideal for either
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          2  direct food industry use or market-related ferry

          3  service; and

          4                 - Additional land within the Hunts

          5  Point, which has been experiencing strong demand for

          6  food processing and distribution businesses.

          7                 The following projects on City-owned

          8  land are planned or underway:

          9                 - Barretto Point, part of which is

         10  slated to become a community park, with the balance

         11  to support DEP's adjacent sewage treatment plant;

         12                 - The Bronx River Greenway, and the

         13  Edgewater Road cement plant on the Bronx River, to

         14  become a small park; and

         15                 - Ferry Point Park, where we continue

         16  to monitor environmental concerns regarding golf

         17  course construction.

         18                 Planning for City-owned land cannot

         19  occur in a vacuum. Therefore, this discussion must

         20  include important non-governmental sites, as well.

         21  For example, a key element in my vision for

         22  waterfront access is the development of over 500

         23  units of housing on a privately-owned site at

         24  Fordham Landing, as part of a larger plan to restore

         25  the Harlem River Shore with the Riverside Park and
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          2  esplanade.

          3                 I remain opposed to a filtration

          4  plant in favor of filtration avoidance, but if

          5  filtration must proceed, its site selection may

          6  become a de facto waterfront issue.

          7                 I'm also keenly interested in the

          8  redevelopment of a privately-owned site on the

          9  Harlem River at 225th Street. The redevelopment of

         10  Yankee Stadium should include ferry access and a

         11  waterfront park.

         12                 I remain committed to bolstering the

         13  working waterfront in Hunts Point and Port Morris

         14  for the food market and for other industries,

         15  especially those that benefit from water.

         16                 However, the waterfront should not be

         17  squandered with garbage transfer stations and other

         18  noxious uses that are not waterfront dependent.

         19                 In Port Morris, I encouraged mixed

         20  uses in the waterfront upland area, and will

         21  investigate opportunities for direct public access.

         22                 In conclusion, the waterfront must be

         23  approached as a precious resource. For every

         24  available site, those that are publicly-owned and

         25  that require discretionary approvals, the City must
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          2  carefully consider all the options to determine its

          3  best use. Public investment may be necessary.

          4                 People are attracted to water and

          5  find peace in waterfront views. Residents of this

          6  great port City should be able to enjoy its shore.

          7  Where waterfront parks are not feasible or

          8  appropriate, access may still be achievable. Our

          9  waterfront offers fantastic prospects for creative

         10  planning. Let's seize the opportunity.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Without in any way understating the

         15  tremendous work that's been done by the previous,

         16  and I believe by this one, mayoral administrations,

         17  and planning for the waterfront, I think it's fair

         18  to say that much of the most creative and exciting

         19  waterfront planning ideas have come from non-profit

         20  groups, such as those represented by Soundview, and

         21  also from the Borough Presidents offices. So, with

         22  that in mind, my question is, and if I could just

         23  get a yes or no from each of you; would it be

         24  helpful to you in your planning efforts, in your

         25  entrepreneurial efforts, to come up with exciting
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          2  ideas for the government to pursue, would the

          3  inventory called for in Intro. 65 be helpful to you?

          4                 MS. CAPLAN: Yes.

          5                 MS. HOPPA: Yes.

          6                 MR. HARTIGAN: Absolutely. Also, maybe

          7  the property two or three blocks back would also be

          8  impacted by the waterfront.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And here's my

         10  last question. I have no interest in having

         11  government spend any money that's unnecessary, I'm

         12  sure everybody would agree with that. So, I'm not

         13  sure that this report needs to be, you know, printed

         14  up and published in thousands of copies, do you

         15  think it would be -- if this were a report that

         16  would simply say deliver to the City Council and

         17  then made available upon request, or for a copying

         18  charge, something like that, would that, you know,

         19  fulfill your purposes? I mean, do you think this

         20  needs to be printed up, or can it just be something

         21  that's available upon request or perhaps

         22  electronically?

         23                 MS. HOPPA: That's what I would say. I

         24  would say, you know, access is key. City Planning

         25  said a lot of the inventory work has already been
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          2  done, but I think if community groups, if elected

          3  officials, non-profits had access to the

          4  information, I think it would result in a more

          5  coordinated effort and more integrated planning and

          6  it would really equip people.

          7                 MR. CASERTA: I don't see so much a

          8  report but as a macro. I mean, in computer speak,

          9  you know, you add up the columns, you tie one

         10  program to another, maybe this is something also

         11  through the Technology Committee or a select

         12  committee of the Council could sort of be advised,

         13  all the different databases administered and used by

         14  the agencies, how do you tie them together? I mean,

         15  I think the hard part is doing it the first time and

         16  then maybe it's just an annual roll-over, an annual

         17  integration of two sets of data that's done by

         18  computer.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And just I have

         20  one question for Ms. Hoppa.

         21                 I'm somewhat familiar, but I'm sure

         22  not as familiar as you, with the process that has

         23  resulted in the plans for the Hudson River Park, and

         24  that seems to me to be a process that did force the

         25  City to come to grips with the fact that it owned
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          2  much of the property that's along the waterfront,

          3  and to think about the questions we're raising

          4  today, what needs to be there, what doesn't and what

          5  to do with it.

          6                 Would you say that that's true? And

          7  would you say that's something that you've seen the

          8  City do elsewhere? Or would it be, without kind of

          9  the Hudson River Park Initiative, would that process

         10  have taken place?

         11                 MS. HOPPA: Are you talking about the

         12  public input in the design process, or is the City

         13  willing to turn over large portions of the property

         14  for --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's right.

         16                 MS. HOPPA: That was a 20-year

         17  process.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Indeed.

         19                 MS. HOPPA: So, I don't know if it's

         20  easily replicated. And I think it grew out of the

         21  defeat of Westway, so I don't know if it's a model

         22  that can be --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes, I guess the

         24  point I'm trying to make is, it seems like that

         25  what's been done along the west side of Manhattan is
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          2  something we've got to do through the rest of the

          3  City.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 I note that we're honored with the

          6  additional presence of Council Member Alan Gerson

          7  from Manhattan.

          8                 Council Member Addabbo, you have some

          9  follow-ups?

         10                 Oh, I'm sorry, and Council Member

         11  Gioia, of course, from Queens.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Good morning.

         13                 First and foremost I've got to thank

         14  you for your time here and your efforts for your

         15  interest in improving our waterfronts and generally

         16  our City as a whole. The work of credible groups,

         17  individuals like yourselves, mean a lot to our City,

         18  and definitely in a time of need. As far as the

         19  report that would be generated from Intro. 65, I

         20  think it would be very important to basically

         21  maximize the use of what is our underutilized

         22  waterfronts and nearby parkland, and as Chair of the

         23  Parks Committee, I'm very interested about that, and

         24  also our feasible ferry service, that is very

         25  possible.
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          2                 The cost of the port, of course, is a

          3  most important issue, but I think if we look at it

          4  rationally, I think it could be a good thing, to

          5  keep the report minimal, to keep it a small, concise

          6  report, I think would keep the cost down, it would

          7  produce a rational concise report, but also any cost

          8  at this point is a rational prudent investment in

          9  our, as I said earlier, our underutilized waterfront

         10  property, its waterways, and ultimately a benefit

         11  for the entire City.

         12                 So, I see any cost, Mr. Chair, as an

         13  investment, as an investment toward what is best for

         14  our City.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you.

         17  I agree. I think that the language that we've got to

         18  be using is one of investment, because what you're

         19  talking about is bringing up a resource that's going

         20  to pay dividends year after year after year.

         21                 Council Member Rodriguez?

         22                 Council Member Gerson?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'll just

         24  actually, not really a question, just first

         25  congratulate you, Mr. Chair, for your leadership in
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          2  pursuing Intro. 65. And I, just after what my

          3  colleague said, when I was chair of the Community

          4  Board, Community Board 2, where we had many

          5  waterfront issues, we were frustrated repeatedly by

          6  lack of information, lack of assortive information,

          7  which your Intro., if adopted, would make available.

          8                 So, I just strongly feel this is a

          9  major step forward, a major investment, and we

         10  should do it, and I join my colleagues in thanking

         11  all of you for your ongoing work on behalf of our

         12  waterfront.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 Thank you. And I thank all the

         16  witnesses again, not just for your participation

         17  here today, but for all the work you've been doing

         18  heretofore. So, thank you very much.

         19                 I'm told there's one additional woman

         20  who has indicated an interest in testifying. Again,

         21  we have this room just for about ten minutes, so I'm

         22  going to ask Joan Byron to come forward. If you

         23  could give an abbreviated statement, and then if we

         24  have any follow-ups, questions.

         25                 MS. BYRON: Thanks very much. The
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          2  written part of the testimony is short, and the rest

          3  is all pictures, which we brought for you. And I

          4  apologize that most of the copies are not in color,

          5  but we do have one from the April 27th event, the

          6  Bronx Riverfest.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: We can just draw

          8  straws for the color copy.

          9                 MS. BYRON: Okay.

         10                 The substance of my testimony

         11  probably echoes, you know, a lot of what's already

         12  been said. I think Intro. 65, and the report that's

         13  asked for, if you could give the white copies, the

         14  purple ones were made by mistake. Sorry about that.

         15                 Intro. 65 has the most value. Gay

         16  Pride is next month I think, so you can have the

         17  white copies for now. Intro. 65 and the report it

         18  would require is valuable as a tool that will enable

         19  people out in the neighborhood to continue their

         20  good work and planning.

         21                 What I'd like to do is take a

         22  close-up look at the Bronx River and Hunts Point

         23  waterfront as a case in point of the way local

         24  community organizations, sometimes working in

         25  partnership with the City and with other levels of
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          2  government, and sometimes working in an adversarial

          3  way, but always with the hope that that adversarial

          4  relationship will ultimately lead to a constructive

          5  partnership and outcome.

          6                 The concrete plan, that was one of

          7  the sites that Paula mentioned, that having that

          8  site available, which is what's in this photograph

          9  as parkland is the result of a shorter struggle only

         10  over the last three or four years. This site was --

         11  she referred to it as a small park, in terms of

         12  community need, it's not small. It's in a community

         13  where there's less than half an acre of open space

         14  per thousand residents. This was almost sold at

         15  auction to a guy who was going to store derelict

         16  vehicles on it. So, it was community pressure that

         17  eventually got the site withdrawn from the auction

         18  list, got parks to express an interest in the site

         19  and put a hold on it.

         20                 City DOT then wanted to use the site

         21  as a temporary truck route, and, again, it was

         22  community pressure that ultimately stopped what was

         23  not even a physically possible idea, the time they

         24  tried to demonstrate driving a truck down this

         25  thing, they couldn't physically get a truck around
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          2  the corner and onto the site, okay? So, it's not

          3  over.

          4                 State DOT, and EDC together stopped

          5  Parks from going ahead with a $3 million capital

          6  expenditure that would have been the first phase of

          7  permanent development of this site, because part of

          8  the site is now on hold, because it might be needed

          9  for an expansion of the Sheridan Expressway, okay?

         10  Robert Moses lives on, okay? Somebody find a wooden

         11  stake, and whatever it takes, okay, because the

         12  highway juggernaut side of Robert Moses walks among

         13  us to this day.  This is the guy who straightened

         14  out the Bronx River to make room for the Sheridan.

         15  This is a useless piece of highway. It handles, at

         16  best guess, 12,000 vehicles per day, compared to a

         17  real highway like the Cross Bronx that's like

         18  190,000, okay?

         19                 State DOT has never seen a highway it

         20  doesn't like, so their plan is to dominate most of

         21  this site with an interchange at the Bruckner

         22  Sheridan intersection, purportedly to allow trucks

         23  to come into Hunts Point, okay? There's no

         24  disagreement on the community side, and speaking for

         25  the groups of the southern Bronx River watershed
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          2  Alliance, Youth Ministries for Peace and Justice,

          3  Sustainable South Bronx and the Point CDC, all whom

          4  would have liked to be here today but were not able.

          5                 So, the southern Bronx River

          6  Watershed Alliance has a counterproposal that says

          7  we need truck access to Hunts Point, we need good

          8  jobs in Hunts Point and we need to take trucks off

          9  local streets; why do we need to do this on the

         10  waterfront, on the only strip of public available

         11  waterfront land left in this community?

         12                 So, they have a serious

         13  counterproposal for a state-of-the-art interchange

         14  from the Bruckner rather than the Sheridan at Ligot

         15  Avenue (phonetic), and this would not only create

         16  probably a better truck solution in terms of the

         17  tens of thousands of trucks that come not over the

         18  George Washington Bridge, but dispersed back into

         19  the region after buying at the market. It would free

         20  up 28 acres of land that's now occupied by the

         21  Sheridan.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Ms. Byron,

         23  because of the time constraints, I'm going to have

         24  to ask you to sum up.

         25                 MS. BYRON: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Summarize. Sum

          3  up.

          4                 MS. BYRON: So, again, what we thank

          5  you for, bringing up Intro. 65. We hope that it will

          6  just be a first step in providing community-based

          7  organizations with tools and staff resources at City

          8  Planning to carry on things like this. We also hope

          9  the City will get behind the community proposal for

         10  the Ligot Avenue alternative, when the EIS for the

         11  Sheridan goes into motion this year.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         13                 Thank you very much. And let me

         14  assure you of two things. One is, this is a first

         15  step. This is a first step toward developing a

         16  comprehensive strategy for the City-owned property.

         17                 Two, there's no question that to me

         18  one of the primary, one of the main benefits of an

         19  inventory as called for in Intro. 65 would be to

         20  enable community-based organizations like yours to

         21  do the work that you're doing. So, thank you for

         22  your testimony, thank you for doing it.

         23                 And let me also say, our Committee is

         24  going to be having a series of tours or hearings on

         25  various specific areas, including the Bronx, so I
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          2  look forward to working with you on that.

          3                 Are there any further follow-up

          4  questions for Ms. Byron?

          5                 Well, thank you very much. With that,

          6  the hearing is adjourned.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 11:30 a.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 7th day of May 2002.
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